
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2016-0215
	Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.


	VOLUME:

DATE:
BEFORE:
	1
November 30, 2016
Peter Thompson

Allison Duff
	Presiding Member

Member


EB-2016-0215
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.
Application for natural gas distribution, 

transmission and storage rates 

commencing January 1, 2017
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Wednesday, November 30, 2016,

commencing at 9:06 a.m.

----------------------------------------
VOLUME 1
----------------------------------------
BEFORE:


PETER THOMPSON


Presiding Member


ALLISON DUFF


Member
MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel

COLIN SCHUCH
Board Staff
DAVID STEVENS
Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.
ANDREW MANDYAM
KEVIN CULBERT
IAN MONDROW
Industrial Gas Users' Association (IGUA)

1--- On commencing at 9:06 a.m.


2Appearances


2Preliminary Matters


6Presentation of the Settlement Proposal by Mr. Stevens


25Submissions by Mr. Millar


29Submissions by Mr. Mondrow


30Submissions by Mr. Stevens


31--- Recess taken at 9:54 a.m.


31--- Upon resuming at 10:38 a.m.


32DECISION


34--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 10:45 a.m.




5EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  STAFF SUBMISSION.


5EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  COVER LETTER AND SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL.


5EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  DRAFT RATE ORDER AND ASSOCIATED COVER LETTER.


6EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  COVER LETTER AND DRAFT ACCOUNTING ORDER.




No UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING.


Wednesday, November 30, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:06 a.m.

MR. THOMPSON:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

My name is Peter Thompson, and with me is Allison Duff.  The Board sits this morning to consider the application by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. for rates commencing January 1, 2017.

This application was filed on August the 31st of this year and updated on October the 4th.  EGD's 2017 rates are made under the auspices of its five-year custom rate-setting plan.  This five-year plan was previously approved by the Board on July 17, 2014.  The custom plan covers the years 2014 to 2018 inclusive, and the year 2017 is the fourth year of the five-year plan.

The Board's October 25th, 2016 procedural order added intervenor status to a number of parties, facilitated a discovery process, scheduled a settlement conference and this hearing day.

The Board is in receipt of a settlement proposal dated November 28th, 2016 and Staff submissions dated November 29, 2016 on the settled and unsettled issues.

No parties have identified any outstanding or disputed issues as required by paragraph 5 of the procedural order.

Enbridge has circulated drafts of a rate order and a separate accounting order related to the relief requested in the application.

We are sitting this morning to consider whether to approve the settlement and matters related to the issuance of the orders drafted by Enbridge.

With that, could I have the appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. STEVENS:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is David Stevens.  I am here on behalf of Enbridge.  With me are Andrew Mandyam and Kevin Culbert.

MR. THOMPSON:  Good morning, gentlemen.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Member Duff.  My name is Ian Mondrow.  I am counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association.

MR. THOMPSON:  Good morning, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Madam Duff.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  Joining me today is Mr. Colin Schuch, who I should point out it is Mr. Schuch's last day at the Board today, so he is going out on top with a big hearing.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, don't your chickens before they hatch, Mr. Millar.  

[Laughter]

Well, well done, Mr. Schuch.  Let's hope we get through this without too many hitches.
Preliminary Matters:


Now, Mr. Stevens or Mr. Millar, do you have any suggestions as to how we should proceed or would you like me to sort of set the agenda for you?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I do have one preliminary matter.  After that, the ordinary course would be to have the applicant do a very brief overview of the settlement and allow for any questions by the panel.  And then since this situation is somewhat unusual, in that there are some unsettled issues that Board Staff speaks to, I could go after Mr. Stevens to deal with those very briefly.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  That would be just fine, Mr. Chair.  We're in your hands as to how detailed you would like us to be in our submissions.  We expect to be quite brief, unless you require more.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  We read the material, but we do probably have a few questions on some of the contents.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.

MR. THOMPSON:  So I would like to -- I would like you to present it as Mr. Millar has suggested after he deals with his preliminary matter.

Mr. Mondrow, are you okay with that game plan?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, thank you, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just very briefly.  You referenced Board Staff's submission, which all the parties should have.

It was brought to our attention, if you turn to page 6 of that submission, at the top of that page there is a header titled "submission on the settlement proposal".  And underneath that are a series of bullet points.

If you flip over to page 7, you will notice the last two bullet points deal with the draft rate order and draft accounting order.  Those, in fact, were not part of the settlement proposal, and therefore those two bullet points really shouldn't be under that header.

Now, we stand by those bullet points.  They still do form part of Staff's submission, but properly they really should be under the sections on page 8 entitled "Draft rate order" or "Draft accounting order" or "Implementation plan".

So Mr. Mondrow brought that to our attention.  We apologize for that error, but I think other than an error of organization the submission stands as it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Mr. Mondrow, are you comfortable with that solution?

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So Mr. Stevens, I guess it is over to you.  Should we be marking these documents that I have mentioned as exhibits in this proceeding?  Or is it okay to do it without marking them as exhibits?  I am in your hands on that.

MR. STEVENS:  Whatever is more administratively simple, sir.  I can certainly refer to the three letters by their contents, but if it is easier we can talk about them as Exhibits 1 to 3.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

Ms. Duff has just pointed out that the settlement agreement already has an exhibit number on it.  I don't know about the other documents.

Mr. Millar, any advice for us on this?

MR. MILLAR:  Rather than spend any time on it, why don't we just mark them.  That is probably the easiest way.  We won't mark the settlement agreement, but the Staff submission could be Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  STAFF SUBMISSION.

MR. MILLAR:  And, I'm sorry, what was the third document?

MR. STEVENS:  I had been referring to the cover letter and contents for each of the settlement proposal draft rate order and draft accounting order.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So is that --


MR. STEVENS:  And then there would be the Staff submission on top of that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it is three documents in total?

MR. STEVENS:  Plus the Staff submission.  Four in total, including the Staff submission.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so I have marked K1.1 as the Staff submission.  K1.2, what would you suggest, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps we can have the cover letter and settlement proposal.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  COVER LETTER AND SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And K1.3?

MR. STEVENS:  The draft rate order and associated cover letter. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  DRAFT RATE ORDER AND ASSOCIATED COVER LETTER.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And then K1 -- is there a K1.4?

MR. STEVENS:  That would be the cover letter and draft accounting order. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  COVER LETTER AND DRAFT ACCOUNTING ORDER.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  There we go.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks so much.

Mr. Stevens.
Presentation of the Settlement Proposal by Mr. Stevens:

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Enbridge appears before you today requesting approval of the settlement proposal and approval of the draft rate order and draft accounting order.

As set out in the cover letter with the settlement proposal, which is Exhibit K1.2, Enbridge is requesting approval of these items in short order by December 2nd in order that the impacts of the approval can be reflected in Enbridge's rates starting January 1, 2017 and placed within the upcoming QRAM application.

The materials before you today are perhaps a little bit different than what we might sometimes see within a rate adjustment proceeding under a IR case, in that the settlement proposal addresses some, but not all, of the relief requested by Enbridge in its application.

As you pointed out, Mr. Chair, in your opening remarks, there is no dispute from any party as to any of the relief sought by Enbridge, and the draft rate order reflects Enbridge's pre-filed evidence.  However, the settlement proposal only addresses certain enumerated items.

We're asking for approval of the full application as set out in the draft rate order, in order that rates can be approved.

The Staff's submission, which is found at Exhibit K1.1, sets out those items which -- for which Enbridge seeks approval, which are not included in the settlement proposal, and explains why each of those items are dealt with properly by Enbridge and are by and large mechanistic items that simply apply previous Board decisions and approaches that the Board has endorsed or required Enbridge to follow for the setting of rates in each year of the IR case.

So with that, in my submission, I don't believe that there is any contention as to any of the things that Enbridge is asking for, and we would be happy to answer any questions that you have.  But unless it would be helpful to you, we don't propose to walk through each and every item in either the settlement proposal or the draft rate order. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I do have a few questions. Should I be posing to those now?  Would that be appropriate? 

MR. STEVENS:  That would be, sir.  And if I can't answer them, I will get the answers from those that can. 

MR. THOMPSON:  So starting at page 6 of -- I guess it is K1.2; that's the settlement proposal. 

We have no problem with the requested custom IR approvals.  They're quite straightforward, as you have mentioned. 

In terms of these commitments, could you just explain to me what the first commitment -- its purpose? 

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  Over the course of several Enbridge rate proceedings in recent years, interrogatories have been asked and answered having to do with future gas supply planning ideas and proposals that Enbridge may bring forward.
One of those items has to do with whether Enbridge may change its storage requirements in future years. 

Through the course of interrogatory responses and discussions, Enbridge has identified that it had retained an outside consultant to do some studies that might support whether or not Enbridge has different storage requirements in the future. 

The study that Enbridge has identified, to be completed by a company called ICF International, has been requested on a number of occasions and Enbridge hasn't provided it simply because it is not yet complete.

So this answer here represents Enbridge's formal commitment to file that study when it is complete, and Enbridge has added-in, and parties have accepted, the proviso so that along with this study, Enbridge may provide its own commentary explaining or contextualizing the study at the time it is filed.

Our expectation is this study would be filed under   the EB-2016-0215 docket number, since that is where we're making the commitment.  That is the docket number for this case.  And our expectation is that parties may ask more questions about the study, or the ramifications of the study, in future Enbridge proceedings, whether it is a rate case or whether it is the gas supply Review that Board Staff has said may be forthcoming. 

MR. THOMPSON:  So is it subjective to allow interested parties to understand better the facilities that you are going to be using to support your services, and perhaps use that information to enhance future services, either in terms of what they are or their price?  Is that the idea behind this? 

MR. STEVENS:  The idea behind why Enbridge said it would file this in the first place is that the study would support any request for incremental storage that Enbridge would seek approval of. 

The commitment now being made is, regardless of whether Enbridge seeks approval of incremental storage, it will file this study.  I don't know in what context parties may ask questions, if Enbridge has no reliefs being requested in relation to the study.  But the study will be on a public record and it will be available to be discussed. 

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  Then the second commitment -- and I guess I should be looking at the detail of this in the settlement at page 9 of Exhibit K1.2. 

It talks about this being done, this commitment to review firm transportation requirements to underpin deliveries in order to provide equal treatment of direct purchase and system gas customers, and balance transportation commitment requirements with security of supply objectives. 

What is the unequal treatment now and the balance now, and could you just elaborate on what this commitment is all about? 

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  One aspect to this commitment has to do with the fact that with the Dawn transportation service coming into place, there may be fewer concerns about requiring direct purchase customers to demonstrate that they have firm transportation to underpin their deliveries into Ontario. 

And so the question is whether Enbridge may be prepared to grant relief from the requirement that was agreed upon in the system reliability proceeding. 

The other aspect of this that has to do with equal treatment arises from questions that have been asked as to whether Enbridge requires the same demonstration of firm transportation underpinning deliveries of system gas as it does to underpin deliveries of gas for direct purchase customers.  And that is something that Enbridge has undertaken to look at and report upon. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  The third commitment relates to an updating of heat value.  We think we understand this, but perhaps you could just, at a high level, walk us through. 

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.

MR. THOMPSON:  Heat value is low, I gather, compared to what it is actually being generated today, and that requires some adjustments.  But just take us through how the volume forecasts are affected by the heat value assumption. 

MR. STEVENS:  You are quite correct, sir, that over time in recent years, it's been observed that the actual heat value is a little bit higher than the assumed heat value. 

And what that means, in effect, is that, starting with direct purchase customers, their daily deliveries are calculated based upon the estimated heat value, or the assumed heat value. 

Effectively, because the actual heat value is higher, they have, from time to time, been under delivered.  And what that means is the system as a whole has to make up their under-deliveries. 

And so by updating the heat value to something closer to what is expected, that make up is expected to largely disappear. 

In terms of the system supplies, a similar issue arises where the total deliveries that are forecast as needed for the system are slightly understated by the use of the lower heat value. 

So all things being equal, assuming weather is as forecast and usage is as forecast, the company has to purchase some incremental supplies, which means that the costs of those supplies get recovered later through the PGVA rather than upfront through rates. 

And so the plan is to make use of the average heat value from the year previous to come up with a closer approximation of the actual gas deliveries that are needed, both for direct purchase customers and for system gas customers. 

MR. THOMPSON:  And is that the methodology that is going to continue from this point forward, the rolling average, if you will, based on the prior year? 

MR. STEVENS:  That is the proposal.  We're just talking about it in the context of 2000 -- the next two years.  But I think the expectation is that that would be the new approach.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Just related to this topic, there is -- maybe I will ask this of both you and Mr. Millar.  In the deferral account package under this Dawn access cost deferral account, there's some language inserted in there dealing with this heat value commitment, I think. 

It is mentioned in Staff's submission, and it is page 34 of 40 of your accounting order package. 

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, I have that. 

MR. THOMPSON:  And I believe what Staff is talking about is the second sentence. 

MR. STEVENS:  So the second sentence within the description of the Dawn access cost deferral account at page 34 of Exhibit K1.4 reflects part of commitment number 3 within the settlement proposal --

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. STEVENS:  -- in that it reflects the agreement of all parties that Enbridge may record and if -- record the costs associated with system changes to accommodate the use of an updated heat value.  And as set out in the settlement proposal, Enbridge has estimated that those costs will be $500,000 or less.

So it would be our expectation that that is the sort of yardstick against which Enbridge would be judged when the request for recovery of this account comes about.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So Mr. Millar, Staff is okay with that sentence, are they, in that --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we are, Mr. Chair, for the reasons that Mr. Stevens has enumerated.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thank you.  And so we are on to, I think, commitment number 4, Mr. Stevens.  Could you just give us a high-level understanding of what this is all about?

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  This is something that was an agreement arising out of the settlement conference.  It is not something that is reflected in Enbridge's evidence.

But Enbridge has agreed that it will look at whether it will meet with intervenors -- or meet with interested parties and will consider whether it might be appropriate or advisable to change its gas supply reference price from using Empress as the relevant location to using an Ontario-landed price instead.

Enbridge has agreed to meet with and talk to parties about that and then report on future plans to either adopt this or not as part of the 2018 rate adjustment application.
To be clear, I don't think that there is any expectation that Enbridge would implement a new reference price for 2018.  Simply, it would be reporting on future plans at that point.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's a commitment to study, is it?

MR. STEVENS:  And to be fair, more than study, actually.  To discuss this with stakeholders.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the only other question I have of you, I guess it relates to what is on page 12.  You're talking about closing, as I understand it, a couple of deferral accounts that were anticipated to be needed but are no longer needed because something is in service already.

But apart from that -- and so those accounts are not in the accounting order, as I understand it?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And are the accounts that are in the accounting order package deferral accounts that either stem from the five-year plan or have been previously approved by the Board?  They're a continuance of previously-approved accounts?  There is nothing new in there, is there?

MR. STEVENS:  There is nothing new in there, Mr. Chair.  There is a small number of accounts that have been approved by the Board subsequent to the custom IR decision and continue.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. STEVENS:  And there is one account that relates to OEB cost assessment that the Board allowed parties to create in correspondence from last February, I believe, but that has not previously been part of a rate adjustment application since that happens between the time of last year's rate adjustment and this year's.

MR. THOMPSON:  And are Staff okay with that account that stems from the correspondence, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, if I may, Mr. Chair.  There is one thing I would just like to highlight in relation to the deferral and variance accounts, and that has to do with the greenhouse gas emissions deferral account, or GGEDA, as some people refer to it.  And I just want to highlight, I believe our cover letter states this, but that account will be in issue and will be discussed in the cap and trade compliance plan proceedings.

So there may well be change through the cap and trade compliance plan proceeding to the scope and details and description of that account.  So I just want to make clear that that particular account may not be final in its scope right now.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, that's mentioned somewhere in your material.  But that reminds me, in terms of implementation, I think your covering letters refer to this, and Staff, I believe, refers to it in their submission, but the Board issued an interim order dealing with the greenhouse gas emissions amounts to be recovered from ratepayers effective January 1.

Has notice of that been given to customers yet?  Or is that going to be packaged up with the QRAM notice?

MR. STEVENS:  I am informed that we're not aware that notice has been given since the time that the Board issued its decision, I believe at the end of last week, but that Enbridge certainly plans to comply with the requirements in the Board's decision as to when notice will be given.

And if that is in advance of the January 1 rates, it will be done in advance, and otherwise it will be done in conjunction with the rate changes as of January 1st.

MR. THOMPSON:  You are looking to us to make that decision?  Or is it --

MR. STEVENS:  No.  I am indicating that we will certainly follow whatever direction was -- I'm sorry, we don't have the Board's interim decision in front of us to recall what the direction was.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I see.

MR. STEVENS:  But certainly Enbridge will comply with that direction, and further, as would always be the case, Enbridge will provide notice of the rate changes that are effective January 1 at the time that those rates are made effective.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So that order, the interim greenhouse gas emissions order, the order that we grant -- assuming we grant one -- dealing with your 2017 rate increase and then the QRAM amount are going to be -- are they going to be in, like, one change effective January 1, 2017?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.  For the January billing, the effect of any order granted in this proceeding as well as the interim order -- or the order approving interim cap and trade tariffs will be combined together into the rates that become effective starting in January.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you engage with Staff or anybody else in preparing the customer notices that go out?  Or is that exclusively an Enbridge decision?  I am just wondering if we need to say anything about that in our order.

MR. STEVENS:  Speaking just of the rate adjustment portion of this -- not the cap and trade portion -- as I understand it, the ordinary course is that Enbridge customarily does provide the communication piece to Board staff.  It is reviewed.  If any comments are received, those are reflected in what is sent out.

I don't have any recollection that that's been part of a Board order in the past to require that to happen.  It is just something that --

MR. THOMPSON:  I wasn't thinking of that.  I was just --

MR. STEVENS:  -- happens by --

MR. THOMPSON:  -- thinking of the timing for that kind of exchange.

MR. STEVENS:  I believe that the timing we have requested in terms of approvals in this case would accommodate that exchange.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Is that essentially a courtesy exercise?  Or do you actually engage with Staff on content of the notice?

MR. STEVENS:  I would certainly term it as being more than a courtesy.  Ordinarily I don't think there is any issue, so I don't think that there is any particular back and forth.

Mr. Mandyam points out to me that during the winter of 2014, when there were significant impacts from cold weather and high gas prices, there was a meaningful back and forth between Board Staff and Enbridge about contents of notices. 

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if it assists, I can confirm that.  I think the ordinary practice is it's provided to Staff as -- I would say a bit more than a courtesy. 

They do solicit our views on it and my understanding is, to the extent Staff has comments, those are generally reflected and changes may well be made. 

It is an informal process.  I don't think there is any formal Board sanctioning.  But that has been happening for quite some time, I understand.

MR. THOMPSON:  I just flag it, I guess, because speaking for myself, I think it is important that these -- that the cap and trade number get out there, as well as the other numbers, to perhaps avoid the kind of thing you went through in the cold winter. 

I don't know if Staff has given that any thought, but that is my own thought on it. 

MR. STEVENS:  That's certainly understood, Mr. Chair.  I think that the cap and trade compliance plan proceeding certainly does talk about communication plans that must be followed, and has protocols there.

So I think that item, that issue, that question is certainly understood, and taken into account by the panel dealing with that case, but my understanding. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Do you have anything? 

MS. DUFF:  No.  Thanks for asking. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Millar, do you have anything to add to the discussion? 

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt.  But before Mr. Millar goes, I wanted to add a couple of comments just on what's been exchanged. 

It might be better for Board Staff if proceed, if that is okay with you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine, go ahead.

MR. MONDROW:  Just some very quick comments.  No matters of disagreement with Mr. Stevens, you will be relieved to hear, but a couple of comments I wanted to add. 

Mr. Stevens for Enbridge off the top indicated that -- reiterated that the settlement agreement only addresses certain enumerated items, but that Enbridge is seeking approval of the draft rate order and draft accounting order and, therefore by implication, its entire application, all of which I agree with on behalf of IGUA and, in the absence of the others, the other intervenors.

With respect to the items addressed in the settlement agreement, it is my submission that the Board can rely on the settlement agreement as demonstrative, along with the supporting evidence referenced in the agreement and on the record, of the public interest.

Perhaps the clearest statement that I could find of this is in the National Energy Board's guidelines for negotiated settlements of traffic tolls and tariffs, dated 12 June 2002, in which the following statements appear at page 2 of those guidelines. 

The NEB says:  
"Should the settlement not be opposed by any party, the Board would normally be able to conclude that the resultant tolls were just and reasonable and a public hearing would not be required."

And that statement follows an earlier statement on page 1, which says that:
"The Board believes that a negotiated settlement that involves a full range of interested parties will normally reflect the public interest."

So that is the concept, and I believe that there's some decisions of this Board in the past that, while not perhaps as clear as those statements, adopt a similar approach and a similar policy. 

So with respect to the items addressed in the settlement agreement, the Board can take comfort from that and indeed use the fact of the agreement as the basis for determining that, in respect of those items, the public interest has been satisfied. 

And apart from the additional commitments, sir, that you went through with Mr. Stevens, the settlement agreement does deal with certain custom IR adjustments for 2017; revenues as defined in the agreement, income taxes and cost of debt, volumes, and the gas supply plan are the three categories of items.

With respect to the other items in the application, it is my submission that the Board will, through the hearing panel and supported by the views of Staff as you have read them and you will hear them, the Board will have to examine ab initio as it were -- that is on its own, without the support of a settlement agreement -- whether the application and the requested relief satisfies the public interest. 

And certainly none of the parties, and not my client, have raised nor intend to raise any concerns about those other elements.  But there is a difference in the way that the hearing panel needs to approach its determinations with respect to those other items, and Board Staff is here to assist you in that respect.

But to me, that is the implication of what Mr. Stevens aptly characterized as a bit of a different and unusual presentation before the Board in this case, given the limited -- intentionally limited scope of the settlement agreement that is intentional by the parties.  So I wanted to make that submission.

In respect of the commitments in particular that you went through, just a couple of additions that I would add that might be of assistance to the panel, and demonstrative of the support and the rationale for the settlement agreement.

So in respect of the commitment to review of the firm transportation requirements, I would agree with Mr. Stevens that it is -- sorry, I will come back to that.

In respect of the review of the firm transportation requirements, the settlement agreement highlights that a driver for this commitment is the movement to Dawn.  And it says right in the first sentence under that commitment on page 9 of 15:
"In consideration of the continuing shift in gas supply to Dawn, the panel will be aware of the system reliability settlement agreement which Mr. Stevens mentioned, and the movement to Dawn for gas supply in the interim has changed the market context in which the system reliability settlement agreement was reached, and it is that settlement agreement that is the genesis of the requirement for direct purchase customers to demonstrate firm transportation underpinning their delivery obligations."

So really that is the rationale for examining whether those commitments are still required in the current market context.

With respect to the update to the heat value, it is on its face complicated, although I think what is most salient is that the settlement proposed will eliminate a current and anticipated to continue cross subsidy from system supply customers to direct purchase customers, because of the way that the heat value figures into the calculation of a direct purchase customer's delivery obligations.

When the heat value is lower for calculation purposes than the actual heat value of the gas being transacted, the result is that direct purchase customer volume delivery requirements understate their anticipated consumption, the balance having to be made up by -- or charged to, at least, system supply customers.

And so in the test year, for example, there is information on the record and the interrogatory responses, I believe, about something like a $12 million subsidy from system customers to direct purchase customers.

In the past, the subsidy has gone both ways, depending on heat value.  But the anticipation reflected in the evidence, which is referenced in the settlement agreement, is that that subsidy is expected to continue with the relatively higher heat value today than in the past of the gas given that it is wet, as I understand it.  And so the parties really felt that that needed to be addressed, and that is what this settlement is about.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is not a negligible issue? 

MR. MONDROW:  It is not a negligible issue and all parties, including those who were the beneficiaries of the subsidy, at least of late, agree that it should be corrected, and that is why you see the settlement before you.

So in my submission, that is a pretty important piece of context for you to consider. 

And in respect of the – finally, in respect of the consultation on the Ontario landed reference price, it is more than just an agreement to study, and I think Mr. Stevens acknowledged that.

You can see in the wording of the settlement itself that Enbridge has committed to consider -- not just study, but consider whether and/or how to move to an Ontario landed reference price instead of an Empress reference price for the setting of gas supply charges, and indeed to report on its position and any proposal.

So while it is quite true that Enbridge has not committed to making a change, I think it has committed, as the language suggests, to an earnest review and consideration of whether a change is warranted or not.

And given the evidence on the record about the shift in gas supply source from Empress to Dawn, this discussion was had and the resulting commitment that you see before you was agreed to.  So I think that is important context as well.

And those are my comments.  I hope that is of assistance.  Thank you. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Very helpful. 

Let me just throw this out to both you and Mr. Stevens.  The panel's current thinking is to -- assuming it issues a final order -- to incorporate in the order directives to the company to honour these commitments.  I know on prior days we just let this go with the settlement agreement.

Now, does that give any of you heartburn?

MR. STEVENS:  From Enbridge's perspective, that doesn't cause us any concern.  I mean, presuming that the directives mimic or mirror the precise commitments that have --


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, just --


MR. STEVENS:  -- been made in the settlement agreement.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- Enbridge's...

MR. STEVENS:  Enbridge's intention would of course be to honour those commitments regardless, but if it makes it clearer and more administratively simple to follow up later to include them as directives, that would be fine.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Are you okay with that, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Absolutely, Member Thompson, and I think that would provide a good paper trail, as it were, to be able to track these commitments.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Millar, do you have anything to add?

MR. MILLAR:  Generally or on that point?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, generally and on that point.
Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, sure.

With respect to the directive I think it is probably a belt-and-suspenders approach, but it's not necessarily a bad thing.

I think generally the views of parties have been that when the Board approves a settlement agreement, assuming that happens, the entire agreement becomes an order of the Board, essentially, and is therefore enforceable.

But that said, as Mr. Mondrow points out, it may be useful to also have that by way of directive.  It would itemize it a little bit more clearly and it might be of assistance to the parties, and especially since I am not hearing any objections, you won't get an objection from Staff either.

If I can move on then just briefly to my comments on the --


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  -- settlement proposal and the application itself.  At the outset, maybe I will just make a few comments on the nature of this agreement.  And I do agree with Mr. Mondrow and to some extent with Mr. Stevens that this is an unusual presentation, in that we have a complete settlement on some of the issues and then nothing from the intervenors on the rest of them.

And I am not sure if this is a first, but it is unusual, but it may be something that continues to happen.  I know this afternoon we have Union's settlement proceeding, and it will be the same situation there.  And it may continue with other cases.

So the reason, of course, behind this is that when the interventions came in there was a decision from the registrar that they would be cost-eligible for a subset of the issues, but not all of the issues.

So the result of that was that when the settlement agreement was crafted and the settlement discussions took place, the intervenors -- I wouldn't say they were formally limited to only looking at those, but they were only cost-eligible for that, and I don't think anybody would find any fault in the intervenors for focusing on the things that they are cost-eligible.  I'm not working here for free, neither is Mr. Stevens, so I don't know why we would expect Mr. Mondrow to do so.

So I don't think anyone has any concerns about the intervenors focusing on those issues that the registrar indicated they were eligible for and then presumably wanted their comments on.  So that was done.

With respect -- and as you have seen in our submission, we don't have any concerns with the issues that were settled.  So the settlement agreement looks good to Staff.

Since no other parties were involved, Staff also, of course, took a look at all the unsettled issues, all the remaining issues.

And Mr. Mondrow suggested to you that this may be something that the Panel wants to look at a little bit more carefully, and I am not sure I disagree with that, but hopefully I can point to a few things that will give you additional comfort.

First, although the Board is being asked for approvals for these things and they're not part of the settlement agreement, they were reviewed by Board Staff, and Board Staff has provided you its comments on them.

Second, I wouldn't want to presume to speak for the registrar, but my understanding is that these items were considered to be not cost-eligible because they're meant to be mechanistic updates, and at least in the registrar's view I believe that they were not the type of thing that were likely to cause hiccups or troubles, and that the thinking was that they would be things that wouldn't require a lot of intervenor review.

Now, that said, sometimes things do come up on what are initially thought to be mechanistic reviews or updates.  I won't speak for Mr. Mondrow or the other intervenors, but I do have to believe that if they had seen something that was a show-stopper or an enormous hole in the evidence or some great error in Staff or Enbridge's analysis, I do have to believe that they would have pointed that out as well.  I know they didn't review it in great detail, but I doubt they would stay silent if they were aware of an issue.

Of course, finally, the Board itself has reviewed this.  As you said, Mr. Thompson, at the outset you have reviewed the materials.  You have heard the submissions from the parties.  And you are well capable to look through all the evidence yourself.  No parties have identified any problems, but of course if the Board Panel had found some, you would be able to review those.

So I think, in summary, my hope is that although this is an unusual process, I don't know if it will continue going forward or not, but hopefully it can provide you with the comfort that the application, as filed, is acceptable and that the Board can comfortably approve it.

Mr. Chair, I don't propose to go through Staff's individual comments.  You will have reviewed our submission, I know.

If you have any questions I am happy to answer them, but otherwise, that concludes my submission.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, thank you, Mr. Millar.  The only question I had was on that deferral account wording, which I have posed.

Now, Mr. Stevens, do you wish to say anything in reply?  Or are we --


MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Chairman, I'm sorry to interrupt --


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.

MR. MONDROW:  -- again -- no, don't apologize.  It is out of order, but I do feel it is important for me to respond to something that Mr. Millar said.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, please.
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MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Millar -- with your leave, Mr. Millar suggested that the intervenors would have pointed out any concerns in other areas that weren't identified in the notice of hearing as being cost-eligible.

And with great respect, I think that is a bit of a leap and not an appropriate conclusion for the hearing panel to draw.

In the absence of some of the representatives of the other intervenors, I should point out that I have knowledge that some of them did not in fact look at anything else because of the direction in the notice of hearing.

So I don't disagree with anything else Mr. Millar said, and indeed suggested that Board Staff is here to assist you, but I think drawing any conclusions that if there was a problem someone other than Board Staff would have pointed it out is not a conclusion that the hearing panel should draw in respect of the items not addressed in the settlement agreement.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair, of course I have to accept that.  I tried to preface my remarks by saying I wouldn't speak for the intervenors, and then maybe I did.

So Mr. Mondrow is here for the intervenors, not me.  And I would have to accept his statements.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Stevens.
Submissions by Mr. Stevens:


MR. STEVENS:  We don't -- other than to say we believe that the Board can take comfort from the written record of this case, as well as Board Staff's submissions, as well as the fact that some parties did ask and have answers to interrogatories on all aspects of Enbridge's application.  I think all those things should give the Board comfort that issuance of the requested orders is appropriate in the circumstances here.  But beyond that, we have no response to the submissions from my friends.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Well, why don't we take a morning break for about 20 minutes, and when you come back we will hopefully have something for you.
--- Recess taken at 9:54 a.m.
--- Upon resuming at 10:38 a.m.

MR. THOMPSON:  Please be seated.  Sorry to keep you waiting.  I can't write as fast as Gordon Kaiser. 


Just before we deal with our decision here, I would like to get a clarification, if I could, from Enbridge.  It goes to this customer notice business that we were discussing previously.


In Staff's submissions, there is -- at page 8, there is this statement:

"OEB Staff understands that Enbridge will provide customers with notices of bill changes as part of its January 2017 QRAM proceeding, as it will be the QRAM order that will supersede the rate order issued in this proceeding."

Just stopping there, I think that comes from a statement that Enbridge made somewhere, but I'm not sure.  Perhaps it doesn't. 


In any event, it goes on:

"OEB Staff supports this proposal, as the single customer bill notice will reflect all of the changes that customers will see on their bills beginning January 1, 2017 [including 2017 rates, cap and trade related charges, and the 2017 QRAM adjustments]."


Has it been decided by Enbridge that that is the way you are going to proceed with notices, or is that something that is still up in the air? 


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  As it happens, I was discussing this with Mr. Kacicnik over the break, and he did confirm to me that this is the process Enbridge will follow, and Enbridge will be filing the draft notices as soon as possible, along with the QRAM materials, for review and approval by Board Staff and by the Board. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you very much. 
DECISION:


So with that, this is our oral decision on the matters that are before us today.


First, let me deal with the issues covered by the settlement proposal. 


The OEB approves the settlement.  The supporting rationale is more than sufficient to justify the provisions of the settlement. 


The settlement produces outcomes that are in the public interest.  These include consistency of the settlement with the custom IR framework that the Board established for Enbridge, the rate impacts that are modest, which we understand to be about $7 per annum for a typical residential customer, and the commitments made in the settlement should facilitate further enhancements in the delivery services provided by Enbridge on a go-forward basis. 


Moreover, the settlement has the full support of Board Staff and a broad array of intervenors represented by those very experienced in ratemaking. 


As to the other issues, the OEB finds that Enbridge's proposals related to these issues are appropriate and reasonable, and they are hereby approved. 


Enbridge's proposals on these other issues are fully supported by OEB Staff.  While these issues lack the support of intervenors, they are nevertheless unopposed.


Mr. Mondrow's point that having support from experienced intervenors strengthens a settlement is a valid one.  That said, the absence of such support does not dilute the reasonableness of Enbridge's proposals, which are, in large measure, mechanistic adjustments based on the application of the five-year custom framework that the Board approved for this utility. 


These adjustments produce outcomes that are in the public interest. 


Accordingly, the application, as adjusted by the settlement, is approved.  A final rate order and separate accounting order will be issued forthwith. 


The settlement proposal will be attached to the final rate order, and the final rate order will contain a direction that Enbridge comply with commitments 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, as set out in the settlement proposal. 


The Board understands that the impact of this rate order will be combined with the impact of the interim rate order that issued on November the 24th, relating to the cost consequences of cap and trade compliance plans, and the quarterly rate adjustment mechanism order that will issue with effect on January 1, 2017, will be combined and that customer notices will be prepared in liaison with Board Staff.


The Board expects these customer notices to clearly explain to Enbridge's customers the separate and combined impacts of these orders. 


Unless there are any questions, then I believe we are finished for the day. 


Questions?  So Mr. Colin Schuch goes out on a high note. 


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much. 


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you. 


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you. 

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 10:45 a.m.
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